IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI

DOCKET NO. 2007-CA-01406

EDWARD S. BALLARD

PLAINTIFF/APPELLANT

VERSUS

COMMERCIAL BANK OF DEKALB

DEFENDANT/APPELLEE

Civil Appeal from Chancery Court of Chickasaw County, Mississippi; Civil Action No. 2004-0058-2-B

APPELLANT'S BRIEF

Barfield & Associates

WES W. PETERS (121 Village Boulevard)

Madison, Mississippi 39110

Telephone:

(601) 856-6411

Facsimile:

(601) 856-6441

Attorney for Edward S. Ballard, Appellant

ORAL ARGUMENT REQUESTED

TABLES

I. STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

- (1) Whether the Trial Court erred in overruling Plaintiff's Motion for Summary Judgment?
- (2) Whether the Trial Court erred in failing to require that the Bank prove that it was entitled to reform the only deed of trust it had when the loans were being made?
- (3) Whether the Trial Court misapplied the rules of construction and thereby erroneously shifted the burden to the Plaintiff to correct the Bank's claimed error?
- (4) Whether the November 28, 2003 Deed of Trust can stand on its own, and whether the Trial Court's findings with respect thereto are supported by the evidence?
- (5) Whether Equity requires that the deeds of trust be voided?
- (6) Whether the Trial Court erred in dismissing the Plaintiff's claim of fraud and misrepresentation?
- (7) Whether either the June 29, 2001 deed of trust or the November 28, 2003 deed of trust can be used to foreclose upon the Plaintiff's farm for the debts of his grandson?

II. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. Nature of the Case

In this case, the Bank seeks to foreclose on Appellant's farm, which has been in his family for generations, based on loans the Bank made to the Appellant's grandson.

There is no dispute that the deed of trust that the Bank prepared, and Appellant signed before the Bank loaned all of this money to his grandson, explicitly provided that the Appellant be notified and agree to any loan before the farm could be used as collateral. There is also no dispute that the Appellant was never contacted or agreed to any of the loans in dispute.

However, after the loans matured, and it was clear that Appellant's grandson could not repay the loans, the Bank drafted a new deed of trust which listed all of the notes and told the grandson, if he could get his grandfather to sign it, the Bank would continue to loan him more money. However, after obtaining the new deed of trust, the Bank said it was not lending him any more money; and the Bank now seeks to use the reformed after the fact deed of trust to foreclose on the farm.

The Bank claims that the original deed of trust was in error and was supposed to entitle the Bank to use the farm as collateral whether the Appellant knew about the loans or not. The issue before this Court is whether the action the Bank took after the money had already been loaned is an acceptable alternative to proving a case of entitlement to reform the only deed of trust which existed while the Bank was loaning all of this money to the Appellant's grandson.

B. The Course of Proceedings and Disposition in the Court Below

The dispute between the parties began when Michael Dudley, President of the Commercial

Bank of Dekalb, called Mr. Ballard to advise him that he may loose the farm which has been in his family for generations, if Mr. Ballard's grandson, Kiley Moody, could not repay over \$600,000 in loans which the Bank had extended to Mr. Moody. Mr. Ballard advised Mr. Dudley that he was wrong, he knew nothing about any outstanding or overdue loans of his grandson, and he had certainly not agreed to allow his family's farm to stand as collateral for loans he knew nothing about. (P-24 at p 32-33; 58-62)

Mr. Ballard called his son, Richard Ballard, who is an attorney and has also held his father's power of attorney since he retired from business due to his health about a decade earlier. Richard Ballard telephoned Mr. Dudley to see what this was all about; and Mr. Dudley explained that he had two deeds of trust which pledged the family's farm as collateral for any and all loans which the Bank may ever decide to extend to Mr Moody; and it now had over \$600,000 in outstanding and overdue loans which it had made to Mr. Moody. Richard Ballard asked for copies of the deeds of trust. However, despite the fact that deeds of trust would obviously be public record, Mr. Dudley stated that the matter was between the Bank and Mr. Ballard, and the Bank could not provide the deeds of trust to Richard Ballard. Richard Ballard explained that he was his father's attorney and also held his father's power of attorney and faxed Mr. Dudley a copy of the power of attorney. However, Mr. Dudley still refused to provide a copy of the deeds of trust. Accordingly, Richard Ballard had the records of the Chickasaw County Chancery Court searched and obtained a copy of the deeds of trust. (R. Vol. 5 p. 13-18; Vol. 6 p. 228-230)

After seeing that there were two deeds of trust, one dated in 2001, which made no reference to standing as security for any and all of Mr. Moody's loans and a more recent one which referenced several loans which the Bank had apparently recently made to Mr. Moody, Richard Ballard called

Mr. Dudley back and asked why there were two different deeds of trust and to see the notes which the deeds of trust were supposed to secure. Again, however, Mr. Dudley advised that he could not discuss any of those matters with Richard Ballard. (R. Vol. 5 p.13-18; Vol. 6 p. 228-230)

After a further period of time in which the parties were represented by counsel, the Bank advised that it was going to take the position that either one or both of the deeds of trust made the farm security for all of Mr. Moody's loans. However, it could not discuss any of those loans with either Mr. Ballard, Richard Ballard or Mr. Ballard's counsel or provide any documentation with respect to the loans, because that was private business between the Bank and Mr. Moody. (R. Vol. 5 p.13-18; Vol. 6 p. 228-230)

Accordingly, on June 3, 2004, Mr. Ballard filed his Complaint in the Chancery Court of Chickasaw County, Mississippi, seeking to declare the deeds of trust void and cancelled as a cloud on title, as well as interrogatories and request for production of documents to learn something about the notes upon which the Bank was threatening foreclosure against Mr. Ballard's farm. (R. Vol. 1 p. 4-39) On August 13, 2004, the Bank filed its Answer as well as a Counterclaim seeking a declaration that the deeds of trust allowed the Bank to foreclose upon the farm for any and all debts of Mr. Moody. (R. Vol.1 p. 43-60)

Thereafter, the parties traded written discovery and took depositions of the parties as well as certain other witnesses. In a nutshell, *inter alia*, it was learned that the original deed of trust explicitly stated that the farm would only stand as security for loans which were made to Mr. Ballard or those which he cosigned and guaranteed and said absolutely nothing about serving as a sort of *carte blanche* security for any and all loans which may ever be made to Mr. Moody. (Ex. P-1) (R.E. p. 27-33) The Bank admitted that Mr. Ballard had never taken out any loans or co-signed or

guaranteed any loans of Mr. Moody and, in fact, Mr. Ballard had never been contacted in any shape form or fashion about any of the loans which the Bank made to Mr. Moody. (R. Vol. 5 p. 9, 43, 76, 101-104)

However, it was learned that in November, 2003, the Bank began reviewing the loans it had extended to Mr. Moody in preparation for an upcoming FDIC examination. (R. Vol. 5 p. 84-87) At that time, the notes showed that not a single one of the notes at issue had ever been repaid in accordance with its original terms, the Bank had extended many of the notes without any repayment, and many of the loans had matured without either repayment or extension. (R. Vol. 5 p.19-36, 51-56) It was also learned that Mr. Moody was bouncing virtually every check he wrote out of his checking account with the Bank at that time; and the Bank was trying to get some information from Mr. Moody in the form of tax returns and other information to try to get a handle on Mr. Moody's ability to repay the loans. However, all Mr. Moody would do was make oral representations about his ability to repay the loans and did not provide the Bank with the documentary proof of his ability to repay, which it was requesting. (R. Vol. 5 p. 84-93; Vol. 7 p. 339-349)

Therefore, without requiring a single dime from Mr. Moody in interest, principal, refinancing fees or anything, the Bank restructured all of Mr. Moody's notes so that none would appear to have matured; and the notes would appear as if they had recently been made with maturity dates in the future. Then, the Bank listed all of the notes on a new deed of trust; and without so much as a single phone call to Mr. Ballard, told Mr. Moody that, if he could get his grandfather to sign the new deed of trust, the Bank would continue to loan Mr. Moody more money. (R. Vol. 5 p. 37, 100-107; P-2) In fact, however, the Bank never loaned Mr. Moody another dime; and after receiving the reformed after the fact deed of trust, sought to begin collecting the long overdue notes.

(R. Vol. 5 p. 103-106)

Based upon what was learned in discovery, on November 16, 2006, Mr. Ballard filed his Motion for Summary Judgment claiming that, as a matter of law, the Bank's attempt to reform or alter the original deed of trust which existed while the loans were being made was an ineffective attempt at reformation, and that the second deed of trust was a *nudum pactum* which could not be supported by any consideration. (R. Vol. 1 p.111) The Bank responded to the Motion; and the Plaintiff filed his Reply in support of the Motion. (R. Vol. 2 p. 163; Vol. 3 p. 35) However, before the Motion could be heard or considered, Mr. Ballard passed away; and Mr. Ballard's estate was substituted as the party Plaintiff.¹ (R. Vol. 3 p. 378) A hearing was held on Plaintiff's Motion for Summary Judgment on February 5, 2007. However, by Order dated February 21, 2007, Plaintiff's Motion for Summary Judgment was overruled; and the matter was set for trial to begin on May 10, 2007. The parties, then, tried this case on May 10, 11 and June 7, 2007. (R. Vol. 3 p. 382)

Thereafter, on July 5, 2007, the Court entered its Final Judgment, adjudicating that the Bank should not be bound by the deed of trust it drafted and which existed while all of the loans were being made to Mr. Moody. (R. Vol. 4 p. 453) (R.E.p. 10-26) Rather, the Court discounted the terms of the original deed of trust and Mr. Ballard's testimony and assigned credibility to the Bank's testimony that the document it drafted did not reflect the intentions of the parties and that the true intention of the original deed of trust was to allow the farm to stand as collateral for whatever loans the Bank may elect to make to Mr. Moody. (R. Vol. 4 p. 453) (R.E.p. 10-26) The Court further adjudicated that, despite the fact that the deed of trust explicitly stated that the farm would not stand as security unless Mr. Ballard actually took out the loan or co-signed or guaranteed a loan, the Bank

¹ However, Mr. Ballard's testimony had been preserved in his deposition.

was not under any duty to even advise Mr. Ballard when a loan was being made. Rather, it was Mr. Ballard's burden to determine if the deed of trust was actually being used by the Bank in a manner contrary to its explicit terms. (R. Vol. 4 p. 453) (R.E.p. 10) Further, despite the fact that the loans to Mr. Moody had repeatedly matured without any payment having been made, some of the loans had matured several times without any repayment, renewal or extension, Mr. Moody would not provide the documents the Bank was requesting to insure his ability to repay the loans and Mr. Moody was bouncing most all of the checks from his checking account at the Bank, the Bank should not be charged with knowledge of any of these facts. (R. Vol. 4 p. 453) (R.E.p. 10) Further, the Court found that when the Bank changed the terms of the original deed of trust and restructured the notes so that they would appear to be new notes which had not matured, without seeking one dime from Mr. Moody for any renewal or extension or even a request to extend any of the notes, this was nothing more than activity which occurred in the normal course of business of a bank. (R. Vol. 4 p. 453) (R.E.p. 10) Accordingly, the Court adjudicated that the Bank could now foreclose on Mr. Ballard's farm for all notes of Mr. Moody, with the exception of those notes which the Bank admitted that it erroneously placed on the second deed of trust. (R. Vol. 4 p. 453) (R.E.p. 10)

Therefore, on August 2, 2007, Plaintiff filed its Notice of Appeal to this Court. (R. Vol. 4 p. 481)

C. Statement of the Facts

1. Background

In this case, the Commercial Bank of Dekalb seeks to take Mr. Ballard's farm, which has

been in his family for generations², based on \$600,000 in claimed debt of his grandson, Kiley Moody.

To start, there is no dispute that Mr. Ballard had no ownership interest in Mr. Moody's timber business-for which the loans were supposedly made, he had nothing to do with the operation of the business, he had nothing to do with the initiation of the relationship between the Commercial Bank and Mr. Moody for the financing of the business, the Bank had financed numerous loans for Mr. Moody before it even met Mr. Ballard, Mr. Ballard did not guarantee or co-sign a single one of the notes, Mr. Ballard did not receive any of the funds of the loans and Mr. Ballard was never even contacted about a single one of the loans at issue, either when they were made, when they matured or when they were all later restructured by the Bank in November, 2003. (R. Vol. 5 p. 9, 43, 76, 101-112)

2. May/June 2001

It is also undisputed that Mr. Ballard's **only** dealing with the Commercial Bank of Dekalb was in May and June of 2001. Specifically, according to Mr. Ballard, at one point in May, 2001, Mr. Moody did not have sufficient equity for a particular timber loan. Therefore, Mr. Ballard and his wife agreed to pledge some stock they owned as additional collateral for a single short term loan. It is undisputed that, within one month, the timber for that loan was harvested, the loan was paid off and Mr. Ballard and his wife retrieved their stock. (R.Vol. 5 p. 112) (P-24 at p. 6-11)

At that time, according to Mr. Ballard, he was asked whether he wanted to continue helping

² This property has been in the Ballard family for generations; it was Mr. Ballard's birthplace as well as that of several of his brothers and sisters and his daughter; and the place where they were raised. Title to the property has remained in Mr. Ballard at all relevant times at issue in this lawsuit. (R. Vol. 6 p. 227-228)

Mr. Moody with the financing of his timber business by pledging the family's farm as collateral for future loans. Mr. Ballard advised that he was retired and knew nothing about the timber business, and he did not want to get into it. The Bank explained that Mr. Moody had been doing very well in the timber business, the Bank would take a timber deed for each loan and the only time Mr. Moody would need any assistance in gaining any further loans was when Mr. Moody needed some additional equity to provide him the Bank's requisite 20% equity in each deal. Mr. Ballard advised the Bank that, if Mr. Moody needed that type help with some future loan, the Bank could provide him the background facts with respect to the loan, and he would consider whether he wanted to get into it at that time. (P-24 at p. 4-17) The Bank suggested that Mr. Ballard go ahead and sign a deed of trust on the farm to extend Mr. Ballard a line of credit with the Bank for that purpose. However, Mr. Ballard did not have anything with him at the time which contained a description of the property in Chickasaw County. Therefore, the Bank suggested that Mr. Ballard go ahead and sign a deed of trust for that purpose; and he could fax a description of the property when he got home and obtain a copy of the deed; and that is precisely what was done. (P-1) (R.E.p. 27) Without dispute, the Bank prepared a deed of trust which provided that Mr. Ballard's farm would stand as collateral for any loan which Mr. Ballard took out with the Bank or which he cosigned or guaranteed. (P-1) (R.E.p. 27)

From that point, it is undisputed that the Bank never had any further contact of any type with Mr. Ballard until it called him to tell him that he would loose the farm, if Mr. Moody did not repay over \$600,000 in loans which it had extended to Mr. Moody. (R. Vol. 5 p. 43, 76, 101-107)

Conversely, the Bank position as to what occurred in May and June of 2001 is more one of explaining, then coming up with new explanations, as to why its own documents do not support its

various positions. Specifically, the Bank claims that Mr. Ballard actually agreed to pledge his farm as collateral, before Mr. Ballard and his wife pledged their stock as collateral for the earlier loan in May. However, since it was land, it would take some time to get a description of the property, get a title opinion and get an appraisal so that the land could be pledged; and according to the Bank, the Ballards only pledged their stock for that one loan as an interim method of financing that deal, while waiting for the Bank to get the information it needed to use the farm as collateral. (Deposition of Greg McMahon at p. 70-75³) However, it is undisputed that the Bank never made any effort to obtain an appraisal, title opinion or anything on the property until over two years later, after all of the loans had already been made, and the Bank was restructuring the loans in preparation for an FDIC examination. (R. Vol. 5 p. 108)

Further, if June 29, 2001 was the time that the Bank was finally ready to take the farm as security for all of Mr. Moody's loans, it is interesting that the Bank did not even have a description of the property at that time, and the description of the property had to be later faxed to the Bank.

(P-1) (R.E.p. 27)

Then, after explaining that it was waiting to do something that it's own documents show that it never made any effort to do, the Bank then obviously had to explain why the deed of trust it drafted did not state that the property was to stand as security for any and all of Mr. Moody's loans, if that is what was intended. In that regard, the Bank initially stated that the deed of trust was intended to secure any and all loans of Mr. Moody or his business; but due to a clerical error, the deed of trust made no mention of that fact. The Bank further explained that the reason none of Mr.

³ Greg McMahon's deposition was presented as an unnumbered exhibit and is contained with the exhibits in the record.

Moody's loans were referenced in the space provided in the deed of trust specifically for that purpose, was because Mr. Moody did not have any outstanding loans at that time. (P-16 at p. 3, 4)

However, when the Bank finally produced some of the notes, it was discovered that two of the notes which were listed on the November 2003 deed of trust did, in fact, exist and were outstanding at the time the 2001 deed of trust was signed. Again, to explain why its own documents do not support its position, the Bank simply changed its position to state that the deed of trust was intended to secure certain of Mr. Moody's notes, but not others; and the listing of the notes which preexisted the June 2001 deed of trust in the later drafted November, 2003 deed of trust was simply another clerical error. (R. Vol. 5 p. 44-49, 66)

The Bank also explained that the farm was to serve as 20% equity for a line of credit for Mr. Moody. However, the Bank admitted that it has a line of credit agreement which the customer signs when it provides a line of credit, and the Banks maintains a running ledger of advances and payments made under the line of credit. However, in this case, no line of credit agreement was ever signed, and no running ledger of advances and payments was ever kept. (R. Vol. 5 p. 10-11) To the contrary, each loan the Bank extended to Mr. Moody was made on a deal by deal basis. Each time, Mr. Moody would have to sign a new note; and each note provided a place to list the collateral that was being taken against the note; and not a single one of the Bank's own notes makes any reference to Mr. Ballard's farm standing as security for a single one of the notes, until November, 2003, after all of the loans had already been made and the Bank was trying to restructure the notes in preparation for an upcoming FDIC examination. (R. Vol. 5 p. 12, 82) (P-3-P-11)

Finally, although one of its many explanations is that Mr. Ballard's farm was intended only as 20% security when it was needed, the Bank claimed that it was under no obligation to advise Mr.

Ballard when such equity was needed. Further, the Bank claims that it should not be limited to that 20% equity and that it should be entitled to foreclose against the farm for the full value of each loan.

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