EDWARD S. BALLARD

PLAINTIFF/APPELLANT

VS.

1.1

1

1 1

1

i j

÷.

1.

i

Ł

1.

2.1

COMMERCIAL BANK OF DEKALB

DEFENDANT/APPELLEE

Civil Appeal from Chancery Court of Chickasaw County, Mississippi Civil Action No. 2004-0058-2-B Honorable Kenneth M. Burns, Chancellor

BRIEF OF APPELLEE

ORAL ARGUMENT NOT REQUESTED

KEITH R. RAULSTON, Watkins Ludlam Winter & Stennis, P.A. 633 North State Street Post Office Box 427 Jackson, Mississippi 39205-0427 (601) 949-4900

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLEE

EDWARD S. BALLARD

PLAINTIFF/APPELLANT

VS.

1

Ì

į.

.

!

COMMERCIAL BANK OF DEKALB

DEFENDANT/APPELLEE

CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS

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

III. SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The Chancellor was not manifestly wrong in rejecting Ballard's contention "that two deeds of trust he signed before notaries at two different times, both pledging the Chickasaw County land for the admitted purpose of securing [his oldest grandchild's] Kiley's Moody Land & Timber debts were, quite simply, nullities." (R. 462C-D; RE 22-23.) Both Ballard and his oldest grandchild Kiley admitted the purpose of the first deed of trust was to secure a \$750,000 line of credit *for Kiley's timber business*, not for Ballard. Kiley drew on that line of credit. Without dispute, Kiley's draws were evidenced by notes specified in the second deed of trust which Ballard admittedly signed, and the purpose and effect of which the Chancellor with good reason found Ballard fully understood.

The deeds of trust must be construed together as a part of a single transaction, but even standing alone the second deed of trust unambiguously secured Kiley's timber debt in dispute. The bank's extension of credit to Kiley constituted legally sufficient consideration for both deeds

1

deed of trust, but in any event the bank's renewals or extensions of Kiley's secured notes provided new and legally sufficient consideration even apart from the legally sufficient antecedent consideration.

The Chancellor entered his well-reasoned, eighteen-page Final Judgment following full trial on the merits. That decision is not manifestly wrong. It is clearly right on both the facts and the law and should be affirmed.

IV. ARGUMENT

A. Ballard, not the Bank, had the "reformation" burden of proof.

1 1 - Ballard's discussion (brief, pp. 19-23) of the standards of proof for reformation ignores the fact that it is not the bank which seeks reformation; it is Ballard. He cannot dispute that, if enforced as written, the second deed of trust would secure hundreds of thousands of dollars in Moody loans which are now in default. We agree with Ballard that, in order to undo a deed of trust as he now seeks to do, he would have a very heavy burden indeed. *See, e.g., Brown v. Chapman,* 809 So. 2d 772 (Miss. App. 2002); *Dunn v. Dunn,* 786 So. 2d 1045 (Miss. 2001); *Progressive Bank of Summit v. McGehee,* 142 Miss. 655, 107 So. 876 (Miss. 1926). It is a burden he failed to sustain at trial.

B. The Chancellor did not Misapply the Rules of Construction and did not Misallocate the Burden of Proof.

Ballard seeks to avoid the first deed of trust by disregarding extrinsic evidence of the parties' intent. He argues the first deed of trust, unambiguous on its face, allows no room for extrinsic evidence. He cites *Cooper v. Crabb*, 587 So. 2d 236 (Miss. 1991), *Matter of Estate of Anderson*, 541 So. 2d 423 (Miss. 1989), and *Ford v. Hegwood*, 485 So. 2d 1044 (Miss. 1986).

The second secon

survivorship clause. In *Estate of Anderson*, the Court held a decedent's testamentary intent should be enforced to avoid unintended consequences. In *Ford*, the Court held that whether a deed was a will required no extrinsic evidence.

It is certainly true that one well-established rule of construction directs that "the intent of the parties be gathered from the plain and unambiguous language contained [in the instrument they signed]." Rogers v. Morgan, 250 Miss. 9, 21, 164 So. 2d 480, 484 (Miss. 1964). However, another directs that "[w]here several instruments are made a part of a single transaction they will all be read and construed together as evidencing the intention of the parties in regard to the single transaction. This is true even though the instruments were executed at different times and do not in terms refer to each other." Phillips Petroleum Co. v. Stack, 231 So. 2d 475, 481 (Miss. 1969), quoting with approval Rocks v. Brosius, 241 Md. 612, 637, 217 A.2d 531, 545 (Md. 1966); see also Security Mut. Finance Corp. v. Willis, 439 So. 2d 1278 (Miss. 1983) (supplemental contract may be entered to explain or supplement existing contract); Wilson Industries, Inc. v. Newton County Bank, 245 So. 2d 27 (Miss. 1971) (construction must be placed on each of documents or agreements entered as part of overall transaction which will be consistent with dominant purpose of parties).

ŝ

[

•

ł

The Chancellor correctly held that "Ballard's argument conflicts with these rules of construction." (R. 460 at ¶29, RE 17.) He correctly held:

Ballard argues that each of the two deeds of trust should be construed without reference to the other. He contends the first deed of trust should be construed *without* reference to extrinsic evidence, while the second should be construed *with* reference to extrinsic evidence. The law does not permit him to have it both ways. To the extent that he relies upon extrinsic evidence to invalidate the second, he ignores the very rules of construction upon which he relies to invalidate the first.

Cite: (R. 460-61 at ¶29.)

The Chancellor also correctly found that "Ballard knew the purpose of both deeds of trust was to secure loans made by the bank to Moody's timber business and that Ballard had no reasonable expectation that he would be contacted for prior approval of advances." (Id. at ¶31.) Ballard's contentions to the contrary are no more worthy of belief than his false allegations in his complaint that he had no dealings with the bank before June 29, 2001, his false contention that McMahon told him in 2001 that he had already been diagnosed, his false denial of a \$7,500 loan on November 26, 2003, or his false allegation of duress ("well-known violent wrath").

The Chancellor with good reason did not believe that Ballard did not know the nature and purpose of the deeds of trust he signed. Moreover, even if Ballard had (and he did not) show that some material misrepresentation induced him to sign the deeds of trust, he would nevertheless be bound as a matter of law by what he signed, as the many Mississippi cases cited above make so abundantly clear. Even consumer debtors alleging fraud have failed as a matter of law to escape their obligations despite claims of fraudulent inducement. An essential element of any claim of fraud or misrepresentation is *reasonable reliance*. Franklin v. Lovitt Equipment Co., Inc., 420 So. 2d 1370, 1373 (Miss. 1982). As a matter of law, one may not reasonably rely on oral representations, whether negligently or fraudulently made by the lender, which contradict the plain language of the documents. As this Court has explained:

A person is under an obligation to read a contract before signing it, and will not as a general rule be heard to complain of an oral misGodfrey, Bassett & Kuykendall Architects, Ltd. v. Huntington Lumber & Supply Co. Inc., 584 So. 2d 1254, 1257 (Miss. 1981).

Ballard cannot dispute the simple fact that the second deed of trust unambiguously secures specified Moody debts. He admits he signed it in the presence of his grandson and a notary at a bank in Alabama.¹⁸ Ruby Ballard did not question her husband's competency to sign the deed of trust. She admitted that after her husband returned from signing the second deed of trust before a notary at a bank in Aliceville on November 28, 2003, she asked him what Moody wanted. She testified that her husband told her that he "had to renew the papers at the bank so Kylie could continue to borrow money." She did not claim to have been alarmed by this news or to have questioned her husband's competence to transact such business. The conversation was so unremarkable to her, she testified, that it did not even interrupt her ironing. (Tr. 201-02.)

۲

A plaintiff's reliance on allegedly fraudulent representation, concealment or non-disclosure is not reasonable as a matter of law if the representation is contradicted by the written terms of a written contract he signed. *Rankin v. Brokman*, 502 So. 2d 644, 646 (Miss. 1987); *McCubbins v. Morgan*, 199 Miss. 153, 23 So. 2d 926 (Miss. 1945); *see also Watson v. First Commonwealth Life Ins. Co.*, 686 F. Supp. 153 (S.D. Miss. 1988). This holds true even for illiterate borrowers. *See Republic Finance v. Cauthen*, 343 F. Supp.2d 529 (N.D. Miss. 2004). *See also Oaks v. Sellers*, 953 So. 2d 1077, ¶17 (Miss. 2007) ("[i]n Mississippi, a person is

¹⁸ Ballard Depo., pp. 22–23, 25, 35; Moody Depo., pp. 44–45. Whether the notary's acknowledgement is in recordable form is immaterial, just as whether Moody Land & Timber Co., Inc. was in good standing with the Secretary of State is irrelevant. See, e.g., Carson v. McNeal, 375 F. Supp. 2d 509 (S.D. Miss. 2005) (defective notary acknowledgement immaterial to determination of obligations of parties to instrument); see also In re Hardin's Estate, 218 So. 2d 889 (Miss. 1969) (legality of existence of *de facto* corporation may only be questioned by state). That Ballard has contended otherwise only underscores that Ballard is grasping at straws in ¶¶ 14, 23, 38, 43 of his complaint. (R. 7, 9, 13, 14.)

avoid a written contract which he has entered into on the ground that he did not read it or have it read to him"; "a person is under on obligation to read a contract before signing it, and will not as a general rule be heard to complain of an oral misrepresentation the error of which would have been disclosed by reading the contract"); Bailey v. Estate of Kemp, 955 So. 2d 777, ¶22 (Miss. 2007) (same; rejecting duress claim); Carter v Citigroup, Inc., 938 So. 2d 809, ¶41 (Miss. 2006) (same); MS Credit Center v. Horton, 926 So. 2d 167, ¶32 (Miss. 2006) ("Duties to disclose or to act affirmatively, such as explaining the terms of a contract, do not arise in arm's length transactions under an ordinary standard of care. Rather, they arise only in fiduciary or confidential relationships"); Equifirst Corp. v. Jackson, 920 So. 2d 458, ¶19 (Miss. 2006) ("inability of borrowers to read did not render them incapable of possessing adequate knowledge of the arbitration agreement they signed," citing with approval Wash. Mut. Fin. Group, LLC v. Bailey, 364 F.3d 260, 264-65 [5th Cir. 2004]); Turner v. Torry, 799 So. 2d 25, 36 (Miss. 2001) ("parties to an arms-length transaction are charged with a duty to read what they sign; failure to do so constitutes negligence"); Alliance Trust Co., Ltd. v. Armstrong, 185 Miss. 148, 186 So. 633, 635 (Miss. 1939) ("To permit a party when sued on a written contract to admit he signed it but to deny that it expresses the agreement he made or to admit that he signed it but did not read it or know its stipulations would absolutely destroy the value of all contracts."). The Chancellor correctly held that these authorities render irrelevant Ballard's rhetorical question (depo., p. 23), "... [W]ho reads all the fine print and all that junk? Nobody. I never did." Ballard, of course, was not illiterate. Like anyone else, he is charged by law with knowing the contents of what he signed. See Massey v. Tingle, 867 So. 2d 235 (Miss. 2004).

1 .

upon which a party may predicate any demand for relief must relate to past or presently existing facts, as facts, and cannot [consist] of promises, except in some cases when a contractual promise is made with the present undisclosed intention of not performing it." *Credit Indus. Co. v. Adams County Lumber & Supply Co.*, 215 Miss. 282 60 So. 2d 790, 794 (Miss. 1952), quoting *McArthur v. Fillingane*, 184 Miss. 869, 186 So. 828, 829 (Miss. 1939).

'It is a general rule that fraud cannot be predicated upon statements which are promissory in their nature when made and which related to future actions or conduct, upon the mere failure to perform and promise — nonperformance of a contractual obligation — or upon failure to fulfill an agreement to do something at a future time ...'

The reasons for the rule, as stated by the court in *Salitan v. Horn*, [55 So. 2d 444, 446 (Miss. 1951)], are 'that 'a mere promise to perform an act in the future is not, in a legal sense, a representation, and that a mere failure to perform it does not change its character'.' 23 Am. Jur. p. 801.

Id.

In Patton v. State Bank & Trust Co., 936 So. 2d 391 (Miss. App. 2006), the plaintiff sued the lender for breach of contract, fraud and fraud in the inducement, among other things, alleging the bank not only agreed to finance the purchase of a building but also orally agreed to finance the renovations to the building. The Court held such representations about future loans could not, as a matter of law, support a claim of fraud in the inducement. *Id.* at ¶13.

Here, Ballard has judicially admitted the purpose of the first deed of trust was to provide a 20% equity cushion as additional security for the Bank's financing of Moody's timber deals.¹⁹ He does not contend that the Bank did not finance the deals. He simply complains that the Bank

¹⁹ Ballard Depo., pp. 4, 6, 23, 33-39.

Alleged oral promises of future conduct cannot support a fraud claim. This rule also dispatches Moody's contention²¹ that he expected more loans but got none after his grandfather signed the second deed of trust. Moreover, according to Moody, his grandfather knew Moody had received advances totaling hundreds of thousands of dollars, yet he signed the second deed of trust anyway, commenting only that he was surprised that the bank had loaned him that much money. (Moody depo. at 49.)

The Chancellor found Michael Dudley's testimony credible. Dudley testified that he did not promise anything with a present intention not to perform. (Tr. 105, 376.) He testified he told Moody that before any further advances would be made, Moody would have to both provide a more detailed accounting than Moody previously had provided verbally of where he stood on cutting various tracts *and* return the signed second deed of trust. Dudley did not misrepresent anything, and Moody was not the bank's agent. Moody returned the signed deed of trust, but he did not provide the requested accounting. Having failed to fulfill *both* conditions to receiving further advances, Moody received no further advances.

Ballard's burden on his claims of fraud and misrepresentation is a heavy one. One seeking to invalidate a deed of trust must produce clear and convincing evidence. See, e.g., Haygood v. First Nat. Bank of New Albany, 517 So. 2d 553 (Miss. 1987), Haynes v. Avco Sec. Corp., 299 So. 2d 198 (Miss. 1974); see also Thomas v. B. Rosenberg & Sons, 153 Miss. 314, 120 So. 732 (Miss. 1929) (deeds of trust are presumed valid; cancellation of deeds of trust for

ï

1.

 $^{^{20}}$ Id. at 4. McMahon denied making any such representation. (McMahon Depo., pp. 11–12.) See Iuka Guar. Bank v. Beard, 658 So. 2d 1367 (Miss. 1995) (for default clause in deed of trust to be enforceable, there is no requirement that co-tenants have knowledge of each others' creation of debt or antecedent lien on property).

²¹ See Moody Depo., pp. 55–56.

45 So. 425 (Miss. 1908) (mortgages duly executed and acknowledged ought not to be set aside for fraud, except on the most clear and convincing proof of their fraudulent character).

Ballard's "self help" argument is not only meritless, it is frivolous. It was not "self help" by the bank for Ballard to sign a deed of trust. When he signed, it was bilateral, not unilateral.

Ballard's reliance in the Court below (see his proposed findings of fact and conclusions of law at R. 421 *et seq.*) on *Courtney v. Merchants & Mfrs. Bank*, 680 So. 2d 866 (Miss. 1996) is misplaced, to put it mildly. The creditor in *Courtney*, to be sure, engaged in "self help" because, without seeking any signature from the borrower on any document at all, it *unilaterally altered the original document* by adding a back hoe not originally listed as security. The debtor denied that he intended to grant a security interest in the back hoe. The Court noted that "*[i]t would have been a simple matter for the Bank to request that Courtney initial the correction to the note* and, failing such consent, the Bank could have taken other steps to protects its rights, such as a suit for reformation." 680 So. 2d at 868 (emphasis added).

In sharp contrast, Ballard admittedly made in-person visits to the bank in 2001, all to help his grandson finance his timber business. According to Moody, Ballard knew full well before he signed the second deed of trust in November of 2003, that it too served that purpose. According to Moody, Ballard knew full well that the Chickasaw County land secured Moody's outstanding timber loans and knew full well that those loans totaled hundreds of thousands, well in excess of the value of the land. Ballard knew when he signed that he stood to lose the Chickasaw County land if Moody failed to repay those loans. According to Moody, he even knew that Moody was "in the hole" at the time. (Moody depo. at 49.)

ł

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